

Naval Point Wave Study

Report prepared for Christchurch City Council

September 2020



Document History

Versions

Version	Revision Date	Summary	Reviewed by
0.1	16/08/2020	Initial document created	Thiebaut
0.2	24/09/2020	Draft for Internal Review	Tran
0.3	29/09/2020	Draft for Client Review	Berthot

Distribution

Version	Date	Distribution
1.0		

Document ID:

MetOcean Solutions is a Division of Meteorological Services of New Zealand Ltd, MetraWeather (Australia) Pty Ltd [ACN 126 850 904], MetraWeather (UK) Ltd [No. 04833498] and MetraWeather (Thailand) Ltd [No. 0105558115059] are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Meteorological Service of New Zealand Ltd (MetService).

The information contained in this report, including all intellectual property rights in it, is confidential and belongs to Meteorological Service of New Zealand Ltd. It may be used by the persons to which it is provided for the stated purpose for which it is provided and must not be disclosed to any third person without the prior written approval of Meteorological Service of New Zealand Ltd. Meteorological Service of New Zealand Ltd reserves all legal rights and remedies in relation to any infringement of its rights in respect of this report.

Contents

1.	Introd	uction								
1	.1	Background9								
1	.2	Wave Criteria12								
2.	Wave	Climate 14								
2	2.1	Data14								
	2.1.1	Wind data14								
	2.1.2	Wave data14								
2	2.2	Analytical methods17								
	2.2.1	Wave17								
	2.2.2	Extreme								
2	3	Ambient Waves Statistics19								
2	2.4	Extreme Waves Statistics25								
3.	Wave	Penetration Assessment 27								
3	3.1	Phase Resolving Wave Model27								
3	.2	Computational domain27								
3	.3	Model input30								
3	.4	Results								
	3.4.1	Existing layout								
	3.4.2	Design layout 1 - a wave attenuator40								
	3.4.3	Design layout 2 - Breakwaters49								
4.	Summ	ary 58								
5.	References									

List of Figures

Figure 1.1	Location of Lyttelton Port and Naval Point development (red box). A
	view shows the existing rock break water areas where improvements to
	the harbour structures are considered10

Figure 1.2 Design layout 1. A floating wave antenuator is proposed as the minimum breakwater option. The length and the width of the floating attenuator are 265m and 5m respectively. This structure has 2m deep with 0.5m freebard (or 1.5m draft) with a transmission coefficient of 0.3.

- Figure 2.3 Monthly and annual wave rose plot for the total significant wave height at P0. Sectors indicate the direction from which waves approach..... 24

Figure 3.1 The computational mesh and bathymetry for the existing layout 28

List of Tables

Table 1-1: Sur	nmary of design wave criteria13
Table 2-1	Coordinate and approximate water depth at the representative data reporting site
Table 2-2	Annual and monthly total significant wave height statistics at P0 20
Table 2-3	Monthly and annual total significant wave height exceedance probabilities (%) at P0
Table 2-4	Annual joint probability distribution (in %) of the total significant wave height and peak period at P0
Table 2-5	Annual joint probability distribution (in %) of the total significant wave height and mean wave direction at peak energy at P0
Table 2-6	Annual independent omni-directional extreme criteria for wind, wave and current at P0
Table 2-7	Annual independent East extreme criteria for wind, wave and current at P0
Table 2-8	Annual independent South extreme criteria for wind, wave and current at P0
Table 2-9	Annual independent South-West extreme criteria for wind, wave and current at P0
Table 2-10	Annual independent West extreme criteria for wind, wave and current at P0
Table 3-1	Extract point locations
Table 3-2	Extreme 5-year and 50-year Return Period Wave Parameters off Naval Point (Location P0)
Table 3-3:Sigr	nificant wave height for the 5-year and 50-year Return Period at extracted points based on existing layout. Green shading shows conditions below the design wave criteria of 0.15m (for the 5-year RP) and of 0.25m (50- year RP)
Table 3-4:Sigr	hificant wave height for the 5-year and 50-year Return Period at extracted points based on design layout 1. Green shading shows conditions below the design wave criteria of 0.15m (for the 5-year RP) and of 0.25m (50- year RP)

Table 3-5:Significant wave height for the 5-year and 50-year Return Period at extracted
points based on design layout 2. Green shading shows conditions below
the design wave criteria of 0.15m (for the 5-year RP) and of 0.25m (50-
year RP)

1.Introduction

1.1 Background

Christchurch City Council (CCC) are interested in developing Naval Point (NP) within Lyttelton Harbour in order to improve safety and public facilities. The location for consideration is shown in Figure 1.1. Several proposed development options are being considered by CCC, including the removal of part of the existing rock breakwater (see Figure 1.1) and two different design layouts (Figure 1.2 and Figure 1.3) that can offer some protection to the environments.

As part of that development, CCC need to initially understand the likely wave climate at the site, both for the existing configuration and considering any potential development. Further, depending on the development option chosen, potential impacts of modifications on the broader environments may need to be considered, with respect to wave propagation, sediment morphological response and hydrodynamics (e.g. current velocities).

CCC has commissioned MetOcean Solutions (MOS) - a division of Meteorological Service of New Zealand Ltd to provide a summary of metocean conditions off Naval Point, Lyttleton Harbour (see Figure 1.1) and assess wave propagation into Naval Point harbour for the existing layouts and the two proposed wave attenuation design layouts (Figure 1.2 and Figure 1.3)..

Numerical hindcasting techniques are the primary source of oceanographic and meteorological data used in preparing this report.

The wave climate including summary of the data sources, analytical methods and extreme statistics are presented in Section 2. The wave penetration assessment is presented in Section 3 and include a description of the wave resolving CGWAVE model setup, model results for both existing and proposed design layouts. Section 4 provides a summary of this report and the references cited are listed in the final Section 5.

Note that the standard oceanographic directional conventions are applied in this report, with waves and winds reported in the 'coming from' directional reference.



Figure 1.1 Location of Lyttelton Port and Naval Point development (red box). A view shows the existing rock breakwater areas where improvements to the harbour structures are considered.



Figure 1.2Design layout 1. A floating wave antenuator is proposed as the minimum breakwater option.The length and the width of the floating attenuator are 265m and 5m respectively. This structure
has 2m deep with 0.5m freebard (or 1.5m draft) with a transmission coefficient of 0.3.



Figure 1.3 Design layout 2. Two fixed rock break waters are proposed to protect the public ramp from the waves and water environments.

1.2 Wave Criteria

The AS3962-2001 Guidelines for Design of Marinas standard considers the 1 year and 50-year ARI event for the assessment of 'good' wave climate in small craft harbour, however as this design project aims at providing good condition for the safe launching and retrieval of vessel at the Naval Point boat ramp, a specific design wave criteria was adopted and is described below:

For safe launching and retrieval of vessels, the Naval Point ramps need to be sufficiently protected from waves and swell. Two cases should be considered:

- anticipated normal conditions, and
- extreme events.

For anticipated normal conditions, the wave climate should be well controlled, provide a high level of amenity and be very safe in launch and retrieve conditions (i.e. a low wave height and limited surge conditions). For extreme events, it should be anticipated that very few vessels would use the ramp, mainly those caught out in adverse weather (i.e. an unexpected southerly front). In these conditions, the amenity expectation would be lower, with the focus being on the ability to safely launch/retrieve a vessel, possibly on a limited section of the ramp. This extreme case would be used for design loads on structures. Noting that the extreme event and associated loads on the marine structures will likely be a controlling case for the engineering design.

In order to establish the design wave criteria (wave height and period) for both cases, a return period event and acceptable wave height has been selected.

For the typical case, there is no specific guidance on the appropriate return period. Ultimately what is appropriate will be reliant on user's expectation on how often wave conditions are above a level which detracts from their enjoyment of using the ramp. It was proposed that the risk of this event occurring a single time in one year should be no more than 20%. This equates to a 5-year return period event.

In terms of wave height, the Australian Standard (AS3962-2001) for marina design recommends boat ramps are "aligned to the dominant waves from swell. Sea and boat wash" and sheltered from waves greater than 0.2m. Although Permanent International Association of Navigational Congresses (PIANC) recommends launching and retrieving areas are subject to no more than 0.15m high waves.

For the extreme case, PIANC suggests that a design event of 1 in 50 years is appropriate for marina type structures with a design life of 30 years. This results in a 45% chance of the design storm occurring in the projects life. There is no guidance for an acceptable wave height in these types of conditions, although PIANC notes for marinas that 'moderate conditions' can be up to 1.67 times 'excellent conditions. This would equate to a design wave height of 0.25m in the 1 in 50-year event. Noting that this recommendation is for boats moored in a marina, not for vessels launching at a ramp so should be used with care.

There is no readily available guidance for wave period and surge conditions, however the wave model should be interrogated to evaluate how longer period waves may impact on the ramp use and amenity.

A summary of the potential design criteria is included in Table 4.

Design case	Return period event	Max wave height (m) within protected area.	Considerations
Normal conditions	5 year	0.15	Period and swell angle.
Extreme event	50 year	0.25	

Table 1-1: Summary of design wave criteria

2.Wave Climate

2.1 Data

2.1.1 Wind data

The 10-min averaged wind data at 10-m elevation were prescribed by a regional atmospheric hindcast carried out by MOS from 2009-2018 (inclusive). The WRF (Weather Research and Forecasting) model was established over all New Zealand at hourly intervals and approximately 12 km resolution with a nested domain over central regions at 4 km resolution. The hindcast was specifically tuned to provide highly accurate marine wind fields for metocean studies around New Zealand.

The WRF model boundaries were sourced from the CFSR (Climate Forecast System Reanalysis) dataset distributed by NOAA (Saha et al., 2010).

Validation of the WRF reanalysis has been undertaken at various locations around New Zealand.

2.1.2 Wave data

The wave modelling was performed using a modified version of SWAN1. This section describes details of the wave model and the technique employed in the simulations.

Model description

SWAN is a third generation ocean wave propagation model which solves the spectral action density balance equation (Booij et al., 1999). The model simulates the growth, refraction and decay of each frequency-direction component of the complete sea state, providing a realistic description of the wave field as it changes in time and space. Physical processes that can be modelled include the generation of waves by surface wind, dissipation by white-capping, resonant nonlinear interaction between the wave components, bottom friction and depth-induced wave breaking dissipation. A detailed description of the model equations, parametrisations and numerical schemes can be found in Holthuijsen et al. (2007) and in the SWAN documentation².

¹ Modified from SWAN version of the 40.91 release

² http://swanmodel.sourceforge.net/

Model setup

The wave hindcast was set and run for a 10-year period, from 2009 to 2018. The model was configured in non-stationary mode including all third-generation physics. The source term parameterisations of Van der Westhuysen et al. (2007) and the bottom friction scheme of Collins (1972) with coefficient of 0.015 were applied. Depth-induced wave breaking dissipation was modelled according to Battjes and Janssen (1978). The wave spectra were discretised with 36 directional bins (10 deg directional resolution) and up to 44 frequencies logarithmically spaced between 0.0412 and 3.002 Hz at 10% increments.

A dynamical downscaling nesting approach was applied to resolve the nearshore region around the site of interest (see Figure 1.1and Table 2-1). To fully capture the details of the coastal line and bathymetry in the area, 4 regular SWAN nests were defined with resolutions of ~4 km, ~ 400 m, ~ 50 m and a fine grid of ~ 10 m to resolve the small-scale bathymetric features.

Site	World Geodetic Sys	Water depth (m, MSL)			
	Longitude	Latitude			
P0	172.705572° E	-43.614748° N	5.0		

 Table 2-1
 Coordinate and approximate water depth at the representative data reporting site.

Full spectral boundaries for the parent SWAN hindcast domain were prescribed from a global implementation of the WAVEWATCHIII (WW3) spectral wave model (Tolman, 1991), run at 0.5 deg resolution with the source terms of Ardhuin et al. (2010). Bathymetry to setup the SWAN domains was derived by processing and combining data from the General Bathymetric Charts of the Oceans (GEBCO) global database Weatherall et al. (2015), Electronic Nautical Charts (ENCs) and survey data. The model was forced with surface winds from a configuration of the Weather Research and Forecasting (WRF) as described in the previous subsection. The wave model also included tidal level derived from the constituents obtained from the POM (Princeton Ocean Model) model. Examples of significant wave height (Hs) wave fields for the three last SWAN nests are given in Figure 2.1 and Figure 2.2 for the cases of waves entering the Canterbury Basin form the NE and S sectors, respectively.



Figure 2.1 Example of modelled Hs field output for waves incoming from the NE sector for the 3 last SWAN nests. Vectors represent modelled wave direction.



Figure 2.2 Example of modelled Hs field output for waves incoming from the S sector for the 3 last SWAN nests. Vectors represent modelled wave direction. Red dots show sites for output results.

2.2 Analytical methods

2.2.1 Wave

The wave spectra were post-processed to calculate wave statistics for the total wave field, as well as for sea and swell components. The spectral partitioning method consists of a split at the frequency corresponding to 8 s period, with sea and swell assigned to the high- and low-frequency parts, respectively. For the total spectra and each partition, one-dimensional frequency spectra were defined by integrating over all directions:

$$E(f) = \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} E(f,\theta) d\theta.$$
 (5.1)

Spectral moments were calculated as

$$m_{x} = \iint f^{x} E(f, \theta) df d\theta, \qquad (5.2)$$

The significant wave height, Hs, mean direction at peak energy, θp , and peak wave period, Tp , are defined as:

$$H_s = 4\sqrt{m_0},\tag{5.3}$$

$$Dpm = \tan^{-1} \frac{\int_{-\pi}^{\pi} E(f_p, \theta) \sin \theta \, d\theta}{\int_{-\pi}^{\pi} E(f_p, \theta) \cos \theta \, d\theta},$$
(5.4)

$$T_p = 1/f_p, \tag{5.5}$$

where fp is the peak wave frequency of the one-dimensional spectra and En(fp, θ) is the energy contained in the peak wave frequency band. Note that Tp and Dpm require spectral peaks within a given partition and are not defined when peaks are not identified for that partition.

2.2.2 Extreme

Directional return period values have been calculated from the hindcast time series of wave parameters.

A *Peaks over Threshold* (POT) sampling method is used for event selection, applying the 95th percentile exceedance level as the threshold with a 24-hour window. For wave EVA, the selected events were fitted to a Pareto distribution, with the location parameter fixed by the threshold and the Maximum Likelihood Method (MLM) used to obtain the scale and shape parameters.

Bivariate return period values were calculated for significant wave height and peak period. The method of Repko et al. (2005) was employed, which considers the distribution of H_s and wave steepness, *s*. A joint probability distribution function (PDF) is calculated by multiplying marginal distributions of H_s and *s* (thus assuming they are independent), after which the PDF is transformed back into H_s/T_p space. In addition, a minimum wave steepness threshold of 0.005 is applied to exclude events with very long wave periods, which are not believed to be representative of extreme conditions.

The marginal distributions for H_s and s are estimated by fitting the POT values to a Weibull distribution using the maximum likelihood method (as implemented in the WAFO toolbox). Contours of the return period values were constructed from the joint PDF using the Inverse FORM method (Winterstein et al., 1993) at the return year levels.

The methods used to estimate extreme maximum individual wave height (H_{max}) and maximum wave crest (C_{max}) account for the long-term uncertainty in the severity of the environment and the short-term uncertainty in the severity of the maximum wave

of a given sea state, as suggested by Tromans and Vanderschuren (1995) and recommended by ISO (2015). The most probable value of the extreme individual wave height (H_{mp}) of each storm is obtained from the product of the Forristall distributions of individual wave height in each hindcast interval within the storm duration (Forristall, 1978; ISO, 2015). The same technique is used for the most probable value of the extreme individual wave crest (C_{mp}) but using the Weibull distribution with scale and shape parameters dependent on the wave steepness and the Ursell number (ISO, 2015; Forristall, 2000). Note that the resulting short-term distributions for each storm are dependent on the number of intervals with H_s values near the region of maximum peak H_s . The uncertainty in the height and crest of the maximum wave of any storm is represented as a short-term probability distribution conditional on H_{mp} and C_{mp} , respectively (Tromans and Vanderschuren, 1995). The long-term distributions of the short-and long-term distributions give the complete long-term distributions of H_{max} and C_{max} (Tromans and Vanderschuren, 1995; ISO 2015).

Note an arbitrary minimum number of 10 storm peaks has been was chosen for reliable distribution fitting. This results in specific directional return period values being omitted.

2.3 Ambient Waves Statistics

A summary of the total significant wave height statistics (Hs) at P0 is provided in Table 2-2.

The monthly and annual significant wave height exceedance probabilities are presented in Table 2-3.

The annual joint probability distribution of the total significant wave height and peak period is presented in Table 2-4. The annual joint probability distribution of the total significant wave height and mean wave direction at peak energy is presented in Table 2-5.

Wave roses for the monthly and annual total significant wave height are presented in Figure 2.3, showing the predominance of waves incoming from the E sector.

Doriod		Total significant wave height statistics ⁽¹⁾												
(01 Jan 2009 –	Total s	ignifican (m	t wave he	eight	Exceedance percentile for total significant wave height (m)									Main ⁽²⁾
51 Dec 2018)	min	max	mean	std	р1	р5	p10	p50	p80	p90	p95	p98	p99	Direction(s)
January	0.01	0.88	0.22	0.12	0.04	0.06	0.08	0.20	0.33	0.39	0.44	0.51	0.54	E SW
February	0.02	0.76	0.21	0.12	0.03	0.06	0.07	0.20	0.32	0.37	0.41	0.48	0.52	E SW
March	0.01	0.81	0.20	0.12	0.03	0.05	0.07	0.18	0.30	0.37	0.42	0.48	0.54	E SW
April	0.01	0.96	0.19	0.13	0.03	0.05	0.06	0.16	0.28	0.35	0.43	0.53	0.61	E SW
Мау	0.01	0.76	0.19	0.13	0.02	0.04	0.06	0.16	0.28	0.38	0.46	0.55	0.60	E SW
June	0.01	0.71	0.19	0.13	0.01	0.03	0.05	0.16	0.29	0.37	0.44	0.53	0.58	E SW
July	0.01	0.79	0.18	0.12	0.02	0.04	0.05	0.15	0.28	0.36	0.43	0.50	0.54	E SW W
August	0.01	0.66	0.19	0.12	0.02	0.04	0.06	0.17	0.29	0.37	0.43	0.50	0.54	E SW
September	0.01	0.86	0.19	0.12	0.03	0.05	0.07	0.17	0.29	0.36	0.43	0.51	0.56	E SW
October	0.01	0.73	0.19	0.11	0.03	0.05	0.07	0.17	0.28	0.35	0.40	0.47	0.51	E SW
November	0.01	0.58	0.21	0.11	0.03	0.06	0.07	0.19	0.31	0.37	0.42	0.46	0.50	E SW W
December	0.01	0.63	0.22	0.12	0.03	0.06	0.08	0.20	0.33	0.40	0.45	0.51	0.53	E SW
Winter	0.01	0.79	0.19	0.12	0.02	0.04	0.05	0.16	0.29	0.37	0.44	0.51	0.55	E SW
Spring	0.01	0.86	0.20	0.12	0.03	0.05	0.07	0.17	0.29	0.36	0.42	0.48	0.52	E SW
Summer	0.01	0.88	0.22	0.12	0.04	0.06	0.08	0.20	0.33	0.39	0.44	0.50	0.53	E SW
Autumn	0.01	0.96	0.19	0.13	0.03	0.04	0.06	0.16	0.29	0.36	0.44	0.52	0.59	E SW
All	0.01	0.96	0.20	0.12	0.03	0.05	0.06	0.17	0.30	0.37	0.43	0.50	0.55	E SW

Table 2-2Annual and monthly total significant wave height statistics at P0.

Notes: (1) All statistics derived from hindcast wave data for the period 01 January 2009 to 31 December 2018.

(2) Main directions are those with greater than 15% occurrence and represent directions from which the waves approach.

Hs	Exceedance (%)													
(m)	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	Мау	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	annual	
>0	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00	
>0.1	83.44	81.31	76.49	71.96	72.65	72.11	70.30	71.99	75.29	78.10	80.74	82.94	76.42	
>0.2	49.63	49.04	44.68	36.49	36.76	39.58	36.75	39.29	40.10	40.47	47.01	49.36	42.40	
>0.3	25.08	24.39	20.69	16.25	17.42	19.26	17.41	18.27	17.33	16.75	21.08	26.37	20.01	
>0.4	8.80	6.66	6.71	6.63	8.32	7.43	6.94	7.10	6.79	5.32	6.85	10.00	7.30	
>0.5	2.27	1.37	1.59	2.79	3.60	2.74	2.08	2.14	2.18	1.32	1.10	2.62	2.16	
>0.6	0.36	0.24	0.67	1.07	1.02	0.72	0.47	0.22	0.64	0.16	0.00	0.09	0.47	
>0.7	0.13	0.07	0.40	0.47	0.17	0.01	0.13	0.00	0.36	0.05	0.00	0.00	0.15	
>0.8	0.12	0.00	0.07	0.29	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.08	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.05	
>0.9	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.08	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	

Monthly and annual total significant wave height exceedance probabilities (%) at P0. Table 2-3



		Peak period (s)																		
Hs (m)	1_2	2_2	2.1	1-5	5-6	6.7	7_9	8-0	9-	10-	11-	12-	13-	14-	15-	16-	17-	18-	Total	Excood%
	1-2	2-3	3-4	4-3	5-0	0-7	7-0	0-9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	Total	LACCEU 70
>0<=0.1	12.73	1.20	4.85	2.82	0.05	0.02	0.02	0.05	0.11	0.13	0.15	0.10	0.11	0.01	-	-	*	*	22.35	100.00
>0.1<=0.2	29.71	3.83	0.13	0.17	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	33.84	76.42
>0.2<=0.3	11.18	10.95	0.02	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	22.15	42.40
>0.3<=0.4	0.48	12.27	0.05	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	12.80	20.01
>0.4<=0.5	-	5.02	0.07	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	5.09	7.30
>0.5<=0.6	-	1.37	0.28	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1.65	2.16
>0.6<=0.7	-	0.15	0.16	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.31	0.47
>0.7<=0.8	-	0.03	0.08	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.11	0.15
>0.8<=0.9	-	*	0.03	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.03	0.05
>0.9<=1	-	-	0.01	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.01	0.01
Total	54.10	34.82	5.68	2.99	0.05	0.02	0.02	0.05	0.11	0.13	0.15	0.10	0.11	0.01	-	-	-	-	100.00	
>Exceed%	98.36	44.33	9.43	3.76	0.76	0.71	0.69	0.67	0.61	0.51	0.38	0.23	0.13	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.01	*		

 Table 2-4
 Annual joint probability distribution (in %) of the total significant wave height and peak period at P0.

Notes: * represents less than 0.005%.



	Mean wave direction at peak energy (degT)											
Hs (m)	227 5 22 5	22 5 67 5	67 5 112 5	112.5-	157.5-	202.5-	247.5-	292.5-	Total	Excood%		
	557.5-22.5	22.5-07.5	07.5-112.5	157.5	202.5	247.5	292.5	337.5	Total	Exceeding		
>0<=0.1	0.09	0.11	14.49	0.43	1.95	3.99	2.51	0.43	24.00	100.00		
>0.1<=0.2	0.03	0.03	15.10	0.23	2.18	10.22	5.59	0.49	33.87	76.42		
>0.2<=0.3	-	*	12.62	0.02	0.51	6.39	2.60	*	22.14	42.40		
>0.3<=0.4	-	-	8.78	*	0.16	2.84	1.01	-	12.79	20.01		
>0.4<=0.5	-	-	3.34	*	0.08	1.44	0.23	-	5.09	7.30		
>0.5<=0.6	-	-	0.96	*	0.01	0.64	0.04	-	1.65	2.16		
>0.6<=0.7	-	-	0.17	-	0.01	0.13	0.01	-	0.32	0.47		
>0.7<=0.8	-	-	0.08	-	*	0.03	-	-	0.11	0.15		
>0.8<=0.9	-	-	0.03	-	-	*	-	-	0.03	0.05		
>0.9<=1	-	-	0.01	-	-	-	-	-	0.01	0.01		
Total	0.12	0.14	55.58	0.68	4.90	25.68	11.99	0.92	100.00			

 Table 2-5
 Annual joint probability distribution (in %) of the total significant wave height and mean wave direction at peak energy at P0.

Notes: * represents less than 0.005%.





Figure 2.3 Monthly and annual wave rose plot for the total significant wave height at P0. Sectors indicate the direction from which waves approach.

2.4 Extreme Waves Statistics

The directional return period values for wave extremes are given in Table 2-6 to Table 2-10 for 1, 5, 10, 20 and 50-year return periods.

Contour plot of omni-directional bi-variate return period values for significant wave height and peak wave period are presented in Figure 2.4.

Table 2-6Annual independent omni-directional extreme criteria for wind, wave and current at P0.

Parameter	Symbol	Units	Return period (year)						
rarameter	Symbol	omes	1	5	10	20	50		
Significant wave height	Hs	т	0.74	0.84	0.88	0.91	0.95		
Peak wave period	Tp	S	3.33	3.58	3.67	3.76	3.87		
Maximum individual wave height	H _{max}	т	1.40	1.58	1.63	1.69	1.77		
Maximum individual wave crest	Cmax	т	0.81	0.92	0.94	0.98	1.02		

Table 2-7Annual independent East extreme criteria for wind, wave and current at P0.

Paramotor	Symbol	Unite	Return period (year)					
Parameter	Symbol	Units	1	5	10	20	50	
Significant wave height	Hs	т	0.72	0.83	0.88	0.93	0.98	
Peak wave period	T _n	S	3.34	3.59	3.68	3.77	3.89	
Maximum individual wave height	H _{max}	т	1.31	1.50	1.58	1.65	1.73	
Maximum individual wave crest	Cmax	m	0.74	0.88	0.92	0.96	1.02	

Table 2-8	Annual independent South	extreme criteria for wind,	wave and current at PO
-----------	--------------------------	----------------------------	------------------------

Parameter	Symbol	Units	Return period (year)						
Farameter	Symbol	Units	1	5	10	20	50		
Significant wave height	Hs	т	0.39	0.53	0.59	0.65	0.72		
Peak wave period	To	S	2.23	2.55	2.66	2.75	2.87		
Maximum individual wave height	H _{max}	т	0.74	0.99	1.08	1.15	1.23		
Maximum individual wave crest	C _{max}	т	0.41	0.57	0.63	0.68	0.72		



	Table 2-9	Annual independent South-West extreme criteria for wind, wave and current at P0.
--	-----------	--

Parameter	Symbol	Units	Return period (year)					
Farameter	Symbol	Units	1	5	10	20	50	
Significant wave height	Hs	т	0.65	0.73	0.76	0.78	0.80	
Peak wave period	To	S	2.70	2.82	2.85	2.88	2.92	
Maximum individual wave height	H _{max}	т	1.23	1.40	1.46	1.50	1.58	
Maximum individual wave crest	Cmax	т	0.70	0.81	0.85	0.89	0.93	

 Table 2-10
 Annual independent West extreme criteria for wind, wave and current at P0.

Paramotor	Symbol	Unite	Return period (year)						
Farameter	Symbol	Units	1	5	10	20	50		
Significant wave height	Hs	т	0.46	0.54	0.57	0.60	0.65		
Peak wave period	Tn	S	2.38	2.54	2.60	2.65	2.72		
Maximum individual wave height	H _{max}	т	0.89	1.04	1.08	1.13	1.19		
Maximum individual wave crest	C _{max}	т	0.51	0.59	0.64	0.66	0.69		



Figure 2.4 Contour plot of omni-directional bi-variate (Hs-Tp) return period values for 1, 5, 10, 20 and 50-year ARIs. The dark crosses correspond to the estimated deterministic Hs and associated Tp return period values for each ARI indicated in the legend at P0.

3.Wave Penetration Assessment

3.1 Phase Resolving Wave Model

The CGWAVE model is an industry-standard wave modelling tool used in harbours and coastal regions with complex bathymetry. This wave model simulates the combined effects of wave refraction-diffraction within the mild-slope equation, and includes the effects of reflection, wave dissipation by friction, breaking, nonlinear amplitudes dispersion, diffraction and wave refraction from rocky shorelines and other structures (Demirbilek and Panchang, 1998).

CGWAVE uses a finite-element (triangular) mesh (FEM), able to be structured such that key bathymetric features are suitably resolved (e.g. channels, shoals, port structures, rocky reef outcrops etc.). CGWAVE is particularly suited for the present study given the site complexity and the multiple fine-scale wave transformation processes occurring over this region (e.g. refraction, diffraction) as well as the effect of the proposed wave screen.

3.2 Computational domain

CGWAVE requires a triangle unstructured mesh and bathymetry information at every grid point. In this study, the same computational domain extent is applied to the existing and design layouts in order to allow direct comparison of the results. The grid was generated using SMS and the same scale paving density function so that there is no change in the position of each grid point. The bathymetry survey provided by CCC was interpolated into the triangle mesh using linear interpolation method with a minimum water depth of 1m. The open boundary is semi-circle with a radius of about 360m; The grid size ranges from 4 to 10m. All grid points along the wave attenuator and around the breakwaters are aligned to ensure the computational mesh correctly resolves the design layout features.

The final grid used for existing and the design layout with a wave attenuator (design layout 1) has 13431 grid points and 26294 elements (see Figure 3.1 and Figure 3.2). To represent the floating wave attenuator in the design layout 1, all mesh elements within the attenuator position were selected for a different material type (e.g. floating dock) during the model setup with a draft of 1.5m and a coefficient of 0.3.

For the design layout with two breakwaters (design layout 2), the number of grid points and elements are 13335 and 26002 respectively, which are slightly smaller than other layouts as this mesh does include dry points on the breakwaters (see Figure 3.3).

Wave parameters model results are extracted at 6 locations within Naval Point as presented in Table 3-1.

Easting	Northing	120000
1576084.0	5171100.2	P6
1576144.8	5171123.6	P5
1576218.3	5171126.8	P4
1576266.0	5171138.0	P2 P3 P1
1576228.9	5171188.5	
1576245.2	5171227.8	

Table 3-1Extract point locations



Figure 3.1 The computational mesh and bathymetry for the existing layout



Figure 3.2 The computational domain and bathymetry used for the design layout 1 with a wave attenuator (length =265m, width= 5m, draft =1.5m; transmission coefficient = 0.3)



Figure 3.3 The computational domain and bathymetry used for design layout 2 (with two rock breakwaters

3.3 Model input

Incident wave conditions are specified at the open boundary of the computational mesh. These wave data were taken from the results of the 10-year wave hindcast study presented in Section 2 together with the 5-year and 50-year Design Wave Criteria adopted and discussed in Section 1.2.

Extreme statistics are given in Table 2.1. These extreme values were then used for incident wave conditions required by CGWAVE

	5-year ret	urn period	50-year return period				
Direction	Hs (m)	Tp (s)	Hs (m)	Tp (s)			
E	0.83	3.59	0.98	3.89			
S	0.53	2.55	0.72	2.87			
SW	0.73	2.83	0.8	2.92			
W	0.54	2.54	0.65	2.72			

Table 3-2Extreme 5-year and 50-year Return Period Wave Parameters off Naval Point (Location P0)



3.4 Results

The following sections present modelled results from the existing layout and two proposed layouts based on 5 and 50 year-return period for different wave directions. In each layout option, a table is given to summarise modelled results of water elevations and wave heights. In model detail, plots of these parameters over computational domains are also presented.

3.4.1 Existing layout

Results for the easterly, southerly, south-westerly and westerly 5year and 50-year Return period are shown on Figure 3.4 to Figure 3.11 and Table 3-3.

Based on the design wave criteria (Section 1.2), the existing layout only gives a good wave climate for Easterly wave conditions as the existing breakwater protects the harbour from wave penetration. The modelled wave height in the harbour is expected to be very small under both 5- and 50-return period (see Figure 3.5). For other wave directions, modelled results indicate that the existing layout does not satisfy the design wave criteria. The most severe scenario is with waves propagating into the harbour from south-west with wave is expected to be about 0.8m and 0.9m based on 5- and 50-year return period extremes (see Figure 3.9).

Table 3-3:Significant wave height for the 5-year and 50-year Return Period at extracted points based on existinglayout. Green shading shows conditions below the design wave criteria of 0.15m (for the 5-year RP)and of 0.25m (50-year RP).

		5 -	year ret	urn peri	od		50-year return period					
Wave Direction	1	2	3	4	5	6	1	2	3	4	5	6
E	0.57	0.08	0.15	0.03	0.01	0.06	0.61	0.07	0.15	0.02	0.01	0.06
S	0.59	0.55	0.31	0.29	0.60	0.48	0.82	0.65	0.45	0.36	0.73	0.60
SW	0.68	0.61	0.84	0.75	0.78	0.64	0.74	0.69	0.91	0.81	0.85	0.73
W	0.69	0.62	0.74	0.34	0.59	0.46	0.83	0.72	0.85	0.46	0.68	0.56

3.4.1.1 Easterly Waves



Figure 3.4 The surface elevation modelled for existing layout with Easterly waves: Hs=0.83m; Tp=4s (5-year return period, top panel) and Hs=0.98m, Tp=4s (50 year return period, bottom panel).



Figure 3.5 Wave height modelled for existing layout with Easterly waves: Hs=0.83m; Tp=4s (5-year return period, top panel) and Hs=0.98m, Tp=4s (50 year return period, bottom panel).

3.4.1.2 South Extremes



Figure 3.6 Surface elevation modelled for existing layout with Southerly waves: Hs=0.53m, Tp=3s (5-year return period, top panel) and Hs=0.72m, Tp=3s (50-year return period, bottom panel).



Figure 3.7 Wave height modelled for existing layout with Southerly waves: Hs=0.53m; Tp=3s (5-year return period, top panel) and Hs=0.72m, Tp=3s (50-year return period, bottom panel).



3.4.1.3 South-West extremes



Figure 3.8 Surface elevation modelled for existing layout with South-westerly waves: Hs=0.73m; Tp=3s (5-year return period, top panel) and Hs=0.8m, Tp=3s (50-year return period, bottom panel).



Figure 3.9 Surface elevation modelled for existing layout with South-westerly waves: Hs=0.73m; Tp=3s, (5-year return period, top panel) and Hs=0.8m, Tp=3s (50 year return period, bottom panel).

3.4.1.4 West extremes



Figure 3.10 Surface elevation modelled for existing layout with Westerly waves: Hs=0.54m; Tp=3s (5 year return period, top panel) and Hs=0.65m, Tp=3s (50 year return period, bottom panel).



Figure 3.11 Wave height modelled for existing layout with Westerly waves: Hs=0.54m; Tp=3s (5 year return period, top panel) and Hs=0.65m, Tp=3s (50 year return period, bottom panel).

3.4.2 Design layout 1 - a wave attenuator

Results for the easterly, southerly, south-westerly and westerly 5year and 50-year Return period are shown on Figure 3.12 to Figure 3.19 and Table 3-4.

Based on the design wave criteria (Section 1.2), the existing layout only gives a good wave climate for Easterly wave conditions as the existing breakwater protects the harbour from wave penetration.

For this design layout, the proposed floating wave attenuator mainly attenuate waves from a south-westerly and westerly direction. For Southerly wave, modelling results show that wave height inside the harbour can be up to 0.6m based on 50-year return period. As shown on Figure 3.16 and Figure 3.17, the gap between the heads of the existing break water and the floating wave attenuator allow southerly waves to propagate into the harbour.

Overall the proposed floating attenuator reduce wave height below the design wave criteria for the 50-year RP at locations 6 except for the southerly waves. For the 5-year RP event the improvement in wave conditions within the harbour is minimal and wave height remains above the design criteria (0.15m).

		5 -	year ret	urn peri	od		50-year return period					
Wave Direction	1	2	3	4	5	6	1	2	3	4	5	6
Е	0.42	0.24	0.10	0.05	0.03	0.07	0.45	0.24	0.12	0.06	0.03	0.07
S	0.70	0.18	0.15	0.24	0.53	0.45	0.93	0.18	0.16	0.26	0.60	0.52
SW	0.61	0.31	0.35	0.39	0.42	0.17	0.68	0.32	0.35	0.40	0.41	0.18
W	0.60	0.29	0.31	0.20	0.30	0.16	0.73	0.29	0.35	0.21	0.34	0.20

Table 3-4:Significant wave height for the 5-year and 50-year Return Period at extracted points based on design layout1. Green shading shows conditions below the design wave criteria of 0.15m (for the 5-year RP) and of0.25m (50-year RP).

3.4.2.1 Easterly Waves



Figure 3.12 Surface elevation modelled for design layout 1 with Easterly waves: Hs=0.83m; Tp=4s (5 year return period, top panel) and Hs=0.98m, Tp=4s (50 year return period, bottom panel).



Figure 3.13 Wave height modelled for design layout 1 with Easterly waves: Hs=0.83m; Tp=4s (5 year return period, top panel) and Hs=0.98m, Tp=4s (50 year return period, bottom panel).

3.4.2.2 Southerly extremes



Figure 3.14 Surface elevation modelled for design layout 1 with Southerly waves: Hs=0.53m; Tp=3s (5 year return period, top panel) and Hs=0.72m, Tp=3s (50 year return period, bottom panel).





Figure 3.15 Surface elevation modelled for design layout 1 with Southerly waves: Hs=0.53m; Tp=3s (5 year return period, top panel) and Hs=0.72m, Tp=3s (50 year return period, bottom panel).

3.4.2.3 South-Westerly Waves



Figure 3.16 Surface elevation modelled for design layout 1 with South-westerly waves: Hs=0.73m; Tp=3s (5 year return period, top panel) and Hs=0.80m, Tp=3s (50 year return period, bottom panel).



Figure 3.17 Wave height modelled for design layout 1 with South-westerly waves: Hs=0.73m; Tp=3s (5 year return period, top panel) and Hs=0.80m, Tp=3s (50 year return period, bottom panel).

3.4.2.4 Westerly Waves



Figure 3.18 Surface elevation modelled for design layout 1 with Westerly waves: Hs=0.54m; Tp=3s (5 year return period, top panel) and Hs=0.65m, Tp=3s (50 year return period, bottom panel).



Figure 3.19 Surface elevation modelled for design layout 1 with Westerly waves: Hs=0.54m; Tp=3s (5 year return period, top panel) and Hs=0.65m, Tp=3s (50 year return period, bottom panel).

3.4.3 Design layout 2 - Breakwaters

Results for the easterly, southerly, south-westerly and westerly 5-year and 50-year Return period are shown on Figure 3.20 to Figure 3.26 and Table 3-5.

Overall, the two breakwaters configuration provide good wave protection for the inner harbour areas . However, it is noted that some wave penetration is occurring between two breakwaters' heads with waves from the south and south-west and most significantly from west direction (Figure 3.26).

Based on the design wave criteria (Section 1.2), the Breakwater Design Layout 2 layout provide a good wave climate for most wave conditions except Westerly waves.

Overall the proposed floating attenuator reduce wave height below the design wave criteria for the 50-year RP at locations 5 and 6 except for the westerly waves. For the 5-year RP event the wave conditions at locations 5 and 6 are below or very slightly above the criteria except for westerly waves.

Table 3-5:Significant wave height for the 5-year and 50-year Return Period at extracted points based on design layout2. Green shading shows conditions below the design wave criteria of 0.15m (for the 5-year RP) and of0.25m (50-year RP).

		5 -	year ret	urn peri	od		50-year return period					
Wave Direction	1	2	3	4	5	6	1	2	3	4	5	6
Е	0.36	0.23	0.02	0.04	0.04	0.04	0.39	0.26	0.02	0.04	0.04	0.03
S	0.68	0.58	0.30	0.13	0.13	0.17	0.93	0.73	0.36	0.13	0.13	0.16
SW	0.68	0.61	0.67	0.46	0.20	0.06	0.73	0.68	0.74	0.47	0.20	0.06
W	0.75	0.58	0.44	0.18	0.26	0.26	0.91	0.69	0.53	0.26	0.26	0.29

3.4.3.1 Easterly Waves



Figure 7.17 Surface elevation modelled for design layout 2 with Easterly waves: Hs=0.83m; Tp=4s (5-year return period, top panel) and Hs=0.98m, Tp=4s (50-year return period, bottom panel).



Figure 3.20 Wave height modelled for design layout 2 with Easterly waves: Hs=0.83m; Tp=4s (5 year return period, top panel) and Hs=0.98m, Tp=4s (50 year return period, bottom panel).

3.4.3.2 Southerly Waves



Figure 3.21 Surface elevation modelled for design layout 2 with Southerly waves: Hs=0.53m; Tp=3s (5 year return period, top panel) and Hs=0.72m, Tp=3s (50 year return period, bottom panel).



Figure 3.22 Wave height modelled for design layout 2 with Southerly waves: Hs=0.53m; Tp=3s (5 year return period, top panel) and Hs=0.72m, Tp=3s (50 year return period, bottom panel).

3.4.3.3 South-Westerly Waves



Figure 3.23 Surface elevation modelled for design layout 2 with South-westerly waves: Hs=0.73m; Tp=3s (5 year return period, top panel) and Hs=0.80m, Tp=3s (50 year return period, bottom panel).



Figure 3.24 Wave height modelled for design layout 2 with South-westerly waves: Hs=0.73m; Tp=3s (5 year return period, top panel) and Hs=0.80m, Tp=3s (50 year return period, bottom panel),

3.4.3.4 Westerly Waves



Figure 3.25 Surface elevation modelled for design layout 2 with Westerly waves: Hs=0.54m; Tp=3s (5 year return period, top panel) and Hs=0.65m, Tp=3s (50 year return period, bottom panel).



Figure 3.26 Wave height modelled for design layout 2 with Westerly wave s: Hs=0.54m; Tp=3s (50 year return period, top panel) and Hs=0.65m, Tp=3s (50 year return period, bottom panel).



4.Summary

This report presents an assessment of the wave climate near Naval Point harbour and investigation of the wave penetration with two proposed design layouts.

The proposed design wave criteria is based on wave conditions related to the vessel launching criteria at the Naval Point boat ramp, and is as follow:

- Wave height less than 0.15m for the 5-year Return Period
- Wave height less than 0.25m for the 50-year Return Period

A 10-year wave hindcast was prepared using a SWAN model nested approach and extreme values analysis was undertaken to determine the return period wave parameters at a location directly south of the existing breakwater. Extreme significant wave height for the 50-year Return Period are in the order 0.7m to 1.0m. Wave period are representative of locally generated wind wave with peak period of about 2 to 4 seconds. Longer period swell wave propagating from east are reaching the site however with small wave height typically less than 0.1m.

A wave penetration assessment using the CGWAVE phase-resolving wave model was undertaken for the existing layout and two proposed design layouts, i.e. a floating attenuator and a configuration with two breakwaters. Modelling scenarios were based on 5-year and 50-year wave return period from the east, south, south-west and west wave direction.

Results showed that :

- Wave for the existing layout are above the proposed design wave criteria except for waves coming from an easterly direction with existing breakwater providing sheltering.
- The proposed floating wave attenuator can significantly reduce wave height within the harbour, up to 50% at some locations. Near the boat ramp the wave design criteria is almost satisfied or satisfied for the 5-year and 50-year Return Period, respectively, except for southerly waves (with wave propagating between the head of the existing breakwater and the floating wave attenuator).
- The two-breakwater configuration is expected to provide the best wave protection. Near the boat ramp the wave design criteria is almost satisfied or satisfied for the 5-year and 50-year Return Period, respectively, except for westerly waves (with wave propagating between the coast and the proposed head breakwater)

5.References

- Battjes, J. A., and J. P. F. M. Janssen. 1978. "Energy Loss and Set-up Due to Breaking Random Waves." *Coastal Engineering Proceedings* 1 (16). https://icce-ojstamu.tdl.org/icce/index.php/icce/article/view/3294.
- Booij, NRRC, R. C. Ris, and Leo H. Holthuijsen. 1999. "A Third-Generation Wave Model for Coastal Regions: 1. Model Description and Validation." *Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans* 104 (C4): 7649–7666.
- Caires, S., and A. Sterl. 2005. "100-Year Return Value Estimates for Ocean Wind Speed and Ardhuin, F., Rogers, E., Babanin, A.V., Filipot, J.F., Magne, R., Roland, A., Van Der Westhuysen, A., Queffeulou, P., Lefevre, J.M., Aouf, L., Collard, F., 2010. Semiempirical dissipation source functions for ocean waves. Part I: Definition, calibration, and validation. J. Phys. Oceanogr. 40, 1917–1941.
- Collins, J. 1972. "Prediction of Shallow Water Spectra." *Journal of Geophysical Research* 77 (15): 2693–2707.
- Demirbilek, Z., Panchang, V., 1998. CGWAVE: A coastal surface water wave model of the mild slope equation. DTIC Document.
- Goring, D. 2016. "Effects of Channel Deepening Projects on Waves and Tidal Currents in Lyttelton Harbour/Whakaraupō."
- Holthuijsen, L. H., N. Booij, R. C. Ris, I. J. G. Haagsma, A. Kiefienburg, E. E. Kriezi, and M. Zijlema. 2004. SWAN Cycle Version 40.31 User Manual. Delft University of Technology Faculty of Civil Engineering and Geoscience Environmental Fluid Mechanics Section the Netherlands: Delft.
- Holthuijsen, L.H., Booij, N., Ris, R.C., Haagsma, I.J., Kieftenburg, A.T.M.M., Kriezi, E.E., Zijlema, M., van der Westhuysen, A.J., 2007. SWAN cycle III version 40.51, Technical Documentation. Delft, 2600 GA Delft The Netherlands.
- Rogers, W. Erick, Alexander V. Babanin, and David W. Wang. 2012. "Observation-Consistent Input and Whitecapping Dissipation in a Model for Wind-Generated Surface Waves: Description and Simple Calculations." *Journal of Atmospheric and Oceanic Technology* 29 (9): 1329–1346.
- Saha, S., Moorthi, S., Pan, H.-L., Wu, X., Wang, Jiande, Nadiga, S., Tripp, P., Kistler, R., Woollen, J., Behringer, D., Liu, H., Stokes, D., Grumbine, R., Gayno, G., Wang, Jun, Hou, Y.-T., Chuang, H.-Y., Juang, H.-M.H., Sela, J., Iredell, M., Treadon, R., Kleist, D., Van Delst, P., Keyser, D., Derber, J., Ek, M., Meng, J., Wei, H., Yang, R., Lord, S., Van Den Dool, H., Kumar, A., Wang, W., Long, C., Chelliah, M., Xue, Y., Huang, B., Schemm, J.-K., Ebisuzaki, W., Lin, R., Xie, P., Chen, M., Zhou, S., Higgins, W., Zou, C.-Z., Liu, Q., Chen, Y., Han, Y., Cucurull, L., Reynolds, R.W., Rutledge, G., Goldberg, M., 2010. The NCEP Climate Forecast System Reanalysis. Bull. Am. Meteorol. Soc. 91, 1015–1057. https://doi.org/10.1175/2010BAMS3001.1

- Tolman, H.L., 1991. A Third-Generation Model for Wind Waves on Slowly Varying, Unsteady, and Inhomogeneous Depths and Currents. J. Phys. Oceanogr. 21, 782– 797. https://doi.org/10.1175/1520-0485(1991)021<0782:ATGMFW>2.0.CO;2
- Van der Westhuysen, A.J., Zijlema, M., Battjes, J.A., 2007. Nonlinear saturation-based whitecapping dissipation in SWAN for deep and shallow water. Coast. Eng. 54, 151–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coastaleng.2006.08.006
- Weatherall, P., Marks, K.M., Jakobsson, M., Schmitt, T., Tani, S., Arndt, J.E., Rovere, M., Chayes, D., Ferrini, V., Wigley, R., 2015. A new digital bathymetric model of the world's oceans. Earth Space Sci. 2, 2015EA000107. https://doi.org/10.1002/2015EA000107.